IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 76,167

PALMA DEL MAR CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION #5 OF ST. PETERSBURG, INC., a Florida not-for-profit corporation

Petitioner

vs.

COMMERCIAL LAUNDRIES OF WEST FLORIDA, INC., a Florida corporation

Respondent

AUG 6 1990 M. Cork, and Mar Cou Aron Kark

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Petition for Discretionary Review from the Second District Court of Appeal Case No. 89-02144

> BRIAN P. DEEB, ESQ. C. SCOTT BRAINARD, ESQ. DEEB & BRAINARD, P.A. 1 Fourth Street North, Suite 770 P.O. Box 1507 St. Petersburg, FL 33731 (813) 896-1144

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

The Petitioner, PALMA DEL MAR CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION #5 OF ST. PETERSBURG, INC., is a condominium association charged with the operation, maintenance and management of a condominium located in Pinellas County, Florida. On or about August 1, 1983, the Petitioner executed a lease as lessor with the Respondent, COMMERCIAL LAUNDRIES OF WEST FLORIDA, INC., as tenant, for the use and occupancy of certain facilities on the condominium property as a laundry room. Under the lease, the Respondent was permitted to install and operate laundry equipment for the use and benefit of the residents of the condominium, and in exchange, the Respondent would pay rental to the Petitioner, which rental was based on a percentage of the revenue received by the Respondent through the use of the machines by the residents.

On July 27, 1988, the Petitioner filed its Complaint in the Circuit Court for Pinellas County, Florida, seeking the entry of a declaratory judgment declaring its rights under the subject lease. The prayer for relief by the Petitioner requested the Trial Court hold that the lease was unenforceable against the Petitioner, and that the Respondent was not entitled to use, occupance or possession of the laundry room facilities on the condominium property. The Complaint also requested the Trial Court to order the Respondent to remove its equipment from the condominium property. Pursuant to order of the Circuit Court of Pinellas

v

County, the case was transferred to the Circuit Court for Hillsborough County, Florida, based on a contractual provision concerning venue.

Both parties moved for entry of Summary Judgment, and at hearing, the Trial Court denied the Respondent's Motion and granted the Petitioner's Motion. On May 9, 1989, the Final Summary Judgment in favor of the Petitioner was filed in the Circuit Court for Hillsborough County. A Motion for Rehearing was filed by the Respondent, and, after hearing on July 19, 1989, was denied.

The Respondent filed its Notice of Appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal on or about July 31, 1989, which Notice sought review of the Final Summary Judgment, the Trial Court's denial of the Respondent's Motion for Rehearing, and the Trial Court's denial of the Motion of Amerivend Corporation to file a brief as Amicus Curiae on behalf of Respondent relating to the Motions for Summary Judgment. On October 12, 1989, Amerivend Corporation was granted permission by the Court of Appeal to file a brief as Amicus Curiae on behalf of the Respondent. On or about October 2, 1989, the Respondent filed a Motion for Attorney's Fees. After briefs, the Court of Appeal heard oral argument of the parties on April 11, 1990.

On May 11, 1990, the Court of Appeal rendered its Opinion reversing the Final Summary Judgment (A-19), and awarding the

vi

Respondent attorney's fees pursuant to its Motion therefor (A-24). On May 23, 1990, the Petitioner filed its Motion for Rehearing as to the award of attorney's fees, and on June 8, 1990, the Court of Appeal entered its Order denying the Petitioner's Motion for Rehearing. On June 11, 1990, the Petitioner timely filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction with this Court, seeking review of both the Order reversing the Final Summary Judgment, and the award of attorney's fees to the Respondent.

POINT I

THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN HOLDING THAT SECTION 718.3025, <u>FLORIDA STATUTES</u>, (1983), DID NOT APPLY TO LAUNDRY SPACE LEASES

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal based its reversal of the trial court's Summary Judgment solely on its disagreement with the opinion expressed in Wash-Bowl Vending Co., Inc. vs No. 3 Condominium Association The Wash-Bowl decision was well Village Green, Inc. reasoned and represented the only logical interpretation of 718.3025 as it existed at the time the contract between the parties hereto was signed. In Wash-Bowl the Court held that the requirements of 718.3025 applied to laundry space leases. The Second District Court of Appeal based its disagreement with that holding on the strength of the legislature's subsequent amendment. The subsequent amendment was not a "clarifying" amendment but was part of an overall revamping of the Condominium Act where rights were given to laundry vendors through one statute and taken away in another statute. This Court should uphold the Wash-Bowl decision and, in turn, uphold the decision by the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Hillsborough County, Florida.

ARGUMENT

In 1986, the Third District Court of Appeal decided the case of <u>Wash-Bowl Vending Co., Inc. v. No. 3 Condominium Association,</u> <u>Village Green, Inc.</u>, 485 So. 2d 1307 (3rd DCA 1986), holding that a lease between a condominium association and a laundry equipment provider was subject to the requirements of Section 718.3025(1), Florida Statutes (1985). In the instant case, the Second District Court of Appeal disagreed with the opinion of the Third District, holding instead that the statute was not intended by the

Legislature to apply to laundry vending contracts. The basic issue on appeal is to determine which of the District Courts of Appeal is correct in its interpretation of that statute.

In order to make this determination, the Court must look at the discussions and the reasons given by each of the Districts. Such a review will disclose that the opinion of the Third District is based on a more detailed and well-reasoned analysis.

The key to the entire argument is the determination of what types of contracts are covered by the statute. If laundry equipment contracts are considered to have been proper subjects for regulation by the statute at the time the contract in this case was signed, then the Third District prevails. If not, then the Second District is correct. Petitioner maintains that the weight of authority, as well as the more logical reasoning, rests with the Third District's interpretation.

In plain english, the Section 718.3025(1) applies to contracts which provide for the "operation, maintenance or management of a condominium association or property serving the unit owners". There is nothing vague or ambiguous about the words used in this phrase. The statute clearly covers any contract which deals with the operation or maintenance of any property used by unit owners of the condominium.

The question then is whether the term "property" is meant to refer to real property, personal property, or both, or either. That term is not defined in Chapter 718, Florida Statutes, and must therefore refer to any kind of property. The case of <u>Wash and Dry</u>,

<u>Inc. v. Bay Colony Club Condominium, Inc.</u>, 368 So. 2d 50 (4th DCA 1979) dealt with that very term, in a case involving a laundry equipment contract, and that Court held, eleven years ago, that the term "property" referred to both real and personal property (See Footnote 2 at Page 51), including specifically, laundry equipment. Applying the finding in <u>Wash and Dry</u> to the issue here allows the substitution of the term "laundry equipment" for the term "property", and the statute would then read that it applies to contracts for the operation, maintenance and management of "laundry equipment serving the unit owners". This clearly disposes of any controversy over whether laundry equipment is considered "property" under the statute. Conclusively, it is.

The Third District looked to existing case law, and the analysis another court had made of the same issue, before arriving at its interpretation. That Court considered how <u>Wash and Dry</u> had come to the conclusion that the "property serving unit owners" included laundry equipment. The Fourth District in <u>Wash and Dry</u> discussed the use of that same phrase in a companion portion of Chapter 711, Florida Statutes (the predecessor to Chapter 718).

In a review of the opinion of the Second District in this case, the Court failed to cite any prior case law on the subject, and merely rendered its own judgment that it did not believe the Legislature intended to include laundry equipment contracts within the purview of the statute. The Court offers no authority or other basis for its opinion - just that it disagrees with its sister Court of Appeal. The Second District then attempts to bootstrap

its decision by referring to a statute that was enacted after the decisions in <u>Wash and Dry</u> and <u>Wash-Bowl</u>, and after the subject contract was signed. Using this reasoning, and assuming arguendo that the Respondent's claim that the subsequent amendment of the statute was a clarification of the Legislature's intent to be applied retroactively, it would appear that a shopkeeper, after his customer has tripped over a crack in the floor, may fix the crack, and then defend the customer's claim for damages by saying that he never meant the crack to be there. As will be discussed later in this brief, the use of the subsequently enacted statute is improper, and therefore, the decision of the Second District conflicts directly with the decisions of two other Courts of Appeal, without any basis in law to support it.

In order to fully understand the significance of the statute with which we deal here, an analysis of the history and reason for the statute is important. By looking at the reason behind the Legislative actions, this Court can better appreciate why the 1987 amendment to Section 718.3025 actually bolsters the Petitioner's argument.

The Condominium Act is essentially a consumer protection statute. The basic substance of the Act is to ensure that the purchaser of a unit obtains the value for which he has bargained, that is "what you see is what you get". See eg.: <u>Stirling Village</u> <u>Condominium, Inc. vs. Breitenbach</u>, 251 So.2d 685 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971). The statute endeavors to provide the consumer the opportunity for full disclosure of all pertinent facts about the

ownership, operation, maintenance and management of his unit, and the property he owns in common with all other unit owners under the condominium concept. The Act contains provisions relating to disclosure of his ownership interest in and encumbrances against the condominium property (Section 718.104), the appurtenances to the unit which cannot be taken away from the owner (Section 718.106), the freedom from having basic rights and privileges eliminated without his consent (Section 718.110[4]), the right to access to all official records of the condominium association upon request (Section 718.111[12]), the right to be informed of the financial status of the condominium on a yearly basis (718.111[13]), the right to notice before the association can take any action to enforce a lien on his unit (718.116[5]), the right to have his purchase deposit held by an independent escrow agent until the developer has completed construction of improvements (Section 718.202), statutorily mandated warranties of fitness and merchantability (Section 718.203), the right to control the association when the developer's interest in the condominium is substantially reduced (Section 718.301), the prohibition against waiver of rights under the Act (Section 718.303[2]), the right of disclosure concerning leaseholds affecting the condominium property (Section 718.401), the right to full disclosure of a multitude of information relating to the purchase of the unit (Part V of the Act), and the right to disclosure if even more information relating to a condominium that is a conversion of existing improvements (Part VI of the Act).

Prior to 1978, the Condominium Act was found in Chapter 711, <u>Florida Statutes</u>. In 1977, the Legislature made significant changes to the Condominium Act, and renumbered the Act as Chapter 718. One of the consumer protections built into the Condominium Act early on was the right of purchasers of units not to be stuck with long term, unreasonable or "sweetheart" contracts signed by the condominium association while it was under the control of the developer of the condominium. See Section 711.13(4), <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u> (1973), amended in 1975 to become Section 711.66(5).

In 1978, when the Condominium Act was substantially amended, and renumbered, Section 718.302 became the successor to 711.66(5). Originally, the predecessors of Section 718.302 provided the purchasers of units the ability to terminate all "sweetheart" contracts involving the operation, maintenance or management of property serving the unit owners. Then, the Legislature recognized that vending contractors, such as laundry equipment companies and soda machine companies, did not necessarily fall into the same category as developer management contracts, so these special types of contractors were given distinctive rights to be free from termination, as long as they met certain other requirements. See Section 718.302(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1979). Essentially, the Legislature agreed, because of the nature of the contracts involved, to protect vending companies who may have contracted with the association while it was under the control of the developer of the condominium, from losing their contracts, as long as they complied with the controls set up by the Legislature. Again, the

overriding concern was protection of the consumer.

In 1978, the Legislature enacted Section 718.3025. This statute set forth certain minimum disclosure requirements for <u>all</u> contracts involving the "operation, maintenance and management of a condominium association or property serving the unit owners". Once again, the obvious reason for such a statute was consumer protection, that is, that the association was entitled to be advised up front of certain types of information, so it could readily understand the nature of its obligations under the contract.

This new statute went one step further than had Section 718.302, though. That existing Section only applied to contracts or reservations made by the association while the developer was in control of it, while the new Section 718.3025 encompassed all contracts of the association, even those executed by the association after control thereof had been assumed by the unit There is no reasonable basis for applying this purchasers. standard to contracts for lawn and landscape maintenance services, swimming pool maintenance services, accounting services, property management services and other essential maintenance and operational services, but not to contracts for the provision of laundry equipment. Under the Second District's holding, an association may require a landscaper to identify whether he has the obligation to pull weeds, but it may not require a laundry equipment contractor to specify whether he has any obligation to fix his equipment.

In 1986, the Third District was faced with the Wash-Bowl case

in which a contract between an association and a laundry equipment contractor did not meet the requirements of Section 718.3025, and the Court held that the contract was not enforceable against the Subsequent to the Third District's opinion in Washassociation. Bowl, the Legislature amended Section 718.3025 to express that the intent of that Section was to cover contracts for management and maintenance services only, and not to contracts the basis of which is the provision of services or property merely for the convenience of unit owners, such as vending and coin-operated laundry equipment (See Section 718.3025, Florida Statutes [1987]). Interestingly, though, at the same time that this amendment was made, the Legislature also saw fit to eliminate the special exemption the in vending equipment contractors formerly enjoyed Section 718.302(1)(e). The freedom from termination that had been unique to vending equipment contractors was no longer available, and those contractors were now subject to the same right of termination as all other contractors under Section 718.302. (See Section 718.302(1), Florida Statutes [1987]).

At first glance, the amendment to Section 718.3025 appears to be nothing more than a legislative pronouncement of "this is what we meant all along", when, in reality, it was a trade-off to vending equipment contractors for the rights they lost in the elimination of Section 718.302(1)(e). The contractors lost the right to have their developer contracts remain free from termination, and picked up the right to be free from having to make certain types of disclosures in any of their contracts in order to

make them enforceable. When viewing the whole statutory amendment scheme together, it is obvious that the 1987 amendment to Section 718.3025 was not merely a gratuitous clarification of the Legislature's past intentions, but really an exchange of a former right for a new one.

Keeping this in mind, it is clear that the Second District's reliance on the 1987 amendment to Section 718.3025 was a misguided attempt to inject its view on equity, that is, that the application of the statute to the Respondent's contract just was not fair, despite the clear and unambiguous reasoning and legal basis for the Third District's decision on the same issue. For these reasons, the Petitioner believes that the Second District Court of Appeal departed from the essential requirements of law in rendering a decision in conflict with the Third District in <u>Wash-Bowl</u>, and the Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Second District's ruling in this case, and affirm the holding of the Trial Court.

POINT II

THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 718.3025, <u>FLORIDA STATUTES</u>, ARE CONTROLLING AS OF THE DATE OF THE CONTRACT WHICH IS THE SUBJECT OF THIS ACTION AND ANY SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENTS OPERATE PROSPECTIVELY AND NOT RETROACTIVELY

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Lease which was the subject of this action was signed by the parties on August 1, 1983. At that time, Section 718.3025, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1983), required certain information to be disclosed in contracts with condominium associations for management and maintenance services. The subject lease did not contain the minimum required information and, by statute, is invalid and unenforceable

The legislature's subsequent amendment of the statute, in 1986, which eliminated laundry leases from the disclosure requirements, did not operate retroactively since no clear expression of retroactive application was made. Even if such an intent were expressed by the legislature, a retroactive application of the 1986 amendment would be an unconstitutional impairment of the contract rights of the Petitioner herein.

ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal seemed to suggest in its opinion the <u>intent</u> of the legislature with respect to the "nonapplication" of 718.3025 to laundry space leases but declined to address the merits of the case law regarding the retroactive application of such amendment. However, since the Second District Court of Appeal raised the "intent" issue with respect to the amendment of 718.3025, the Petitioner feels compelled to address that point in this Brief. The laws which exist at the time and place of the making of a contract enter into and become a part of the contract made, as if they were expressly referred to and incorporated in its terms, including those laws which affect its construction, validity, enforcement or discharge. <u>Southern Crane Rentals, Inc. vs. City of Gainesville</u>, 429 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>Florida Beverage</u> <u>Corporation vs. Division of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco, Department of Business Regulation</u>, 503 So.2d 396 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). See also: <u>Brickell Bay Club, Inc. vs. Ussery</u>, 417 So.2d 692 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). Furthermore, contracts are made in legal contemplation of the existing applicable law. <u>Southern Crane</u> <u>Rentals, Inc. vs. City of Gainesville</u>, 429 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>Carter vs. Government Employees Insurance Co.</u>, 377 So.2d 242 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979).

The contract, which is the subject of this action (A. 1-4) was entered into between the parties on August 1, 1983. At that time, Section 718.3025, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1983) (A. 5) mandated that certain contracts contain certain information.

There was never any dispute that the contract, on its face, did not meet the minimum requirements of Section 718.3025, <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u> (1983). On appeal, COMMERCIAL LAUNDRIES instead relied on its contention that the legislature's 1986 amendment to Section 718.3025, <u>Florida Statutes</u> operated retroactively to all contracts which were in existence as of the date of the amendment.

In 1986, the Florida legislature amended Section 718.3025, <u>Florida Statutes</u> by adding the following language:

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