IN THE SUPREME COURT, STATE OF FLORIDA

AUG 31.

CASE NO: 76,167

PALMA DEL MAR CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION #5 OF ST. PETERSBURG, INC., a Florida not-for-profit corporation,

Petitioner,

vs.

COMMERCIAL LAUNDRIES OF WEST FLORIDA, INC., a Florida corporation,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Petition for Discretionary Review from the Second District Court of Appeal, Case No: 89-02144, after appeal from Circuit Court Hillsborough County Civil, Division Case No: 88-19407 Div. F Honorable J.C. Cheatwood

PERDIE AND GOUZ Attorney for Respondent 717 Ponce de Leon Blvd., Suite 215 Coral Gables, Florida 33134-2084 Telephone: (305) 445-3557

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

Respondent agrees with Petitioner's Statement of the Facts and Case subject to the following clarifications and additions.

First, the August 1, 1983 lease constituted a third lease on the premises and was a renegotiation of the prior lease.

Second, while couched in terms of declaratory judgment the substance of Petitioner's complaint (and relief sought and granted in trial court) was to declare the lease unenforceable and to evict Respondent from the premises, although there was no default in the lease.

Third, prior to the Summary Judgment hearing Judge Cheatwood had denied a Motion to Dismiss.

Fourth, the Respondent had filed an affidavit in opposition to Petitioner's Motion for Summary Judgment. Petitioner never filed an Affidavit or sworn pleading or evidence in the trial court. Respondent had performed all conditions required by the lease.

Fifth, petitioner's invocation of "discretionary jurisdiction" is based on stated conflict in the opinion, however, such conflict in fact was most since the Second District Court of Appeal also recognized legislative clarification, to the erroneous opinion in Wash Bowl.

Sixth, the present proceeding is directed to the Second District Court of Appeals' opinion which is now reported at 561 So.2d 1233 (Fla. 2d DCA, 1990).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal's opinion was correct that Fla.Stat., 718.3025 did not apply to the lease of space in the common elements or limited common elements by an association, where the association as landlord received rent from a Tenant such as a if Commercial Laundry Vendor. there was room for Even interpretation i.e. Wash Bowl v. Village Green, 485 So.2d 1307 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1986) when the legislature adopted 718.3025(4) in 1986 such amendment was "clarifying" or "remedial" and had retrospective effect. Lowry v. Parole and Probation Commission, 473 So.2d 1248 (Fla. 1985); Adams v. Wright, 403 So.2d 391 (Fla. 1981); and <u>U.S. Fire Ins. Co. v. Roberts</u>, 541 So.2d 1297 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1989).

Any law suit two years later seeking to make a lease unenforceable based on <u>Wash Bowl</u> was frivolous, the law having been settled by clear legislative intent.

A landlord has no vested property right where a provision is not contained in the lease but only by statutory implication, and such legislative grant may be abrogated by the legislature and will be given retrospective effect. <u>Xanadu of Cocoa Beach Inc. v. Lenz</u>, 504 So.2d 518 (Fla. 5th DCA, 1987).

The acceptance of rent for two years after the Amendment constituted a waiver as a matter of law. Akins v. Bethea

33 So.2d 638 (Fla. 1948). If not waiver or estoppel as a matter of law, it was a matter of fact precluding Summary Judgment.

In Declaratory Judgment actions the Court will look to

substance over form and allow attorney's fees where contract or statute allow the same. The Court will not take a technical or unrealistic view but will look at a broad interpretation to allow attorney's fees. All Ways Reliable Building Maintenance Inc. v. Moore, 261 So.2d 131 (Fla. 1972). A Court of appeals need not make specific findings to allow attorneys fees as costs under Fla.Stat., 57.105 or under the lease or "previous lease". Where the respondent, a corporation is required by law to have an attorney to appear in Court to enforce the lease and prevent the lease from being declared void and and enfoceable and the tenant evicted, fees are appropriate fees are allowable under both theories since Petitioner raised no issue of fact, and its legal argument was frivolous having been acted on previously and the legislative intent being clear.

POINT I

THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN HOLDING THAT SECTION 718.3025, FLORIDA STATUTES, (1983), DID NOT APPLY TO LAUNDRY SPACE LEASES

Judicial construction of a Statute is to be applied only when legislative intent cannot be determined. Where the legislature has spoken, the Courts will favor the upholding of legislative intent.

Particularly troublesome is the Florida Condominium Act. The act itself is in derogation of Common Law and is to be strictly construed.

The policy reason for this is that the act restricts, restrains, and imposes various requirements that may impact upon Federal and State constitutional prohibitions against impairment of contract, equal protection and due process. For example, the act may make a contract with a condominium different that a similar contract with an apartment building or interval ownership.

Likewise, other laws i.e., age discrimination etc., may impact or restrict condominium activity.

This present case was determined by the trial court on a summary judgment in which Petitioner presented no sworn motion or pleading or affidavit and in which the Tenant had complied with all lease requirements and presented affidavit in opposition.

Conversely, <u>Wash-Bowl Vending Co. Inc., v. No. 3 Condominium Association Village Green, Inc.</u>, 485 So.2d 1307 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1986), was a result of a contested non-jury trial resulting in a judgment upheld by the Third District Court of Appeals.

The standard thus applied in <u>Wash Bowl</u> by the Third District Court of Appeals was whether Judge Barad's decision itself was clearly erroneous, and even there the language of the decision was curious. For example, pg. 1310 "Second, we are asked to decide whether Wash-Bowl complied with the Statute as much as was practicable given the differences between a laundry space lease and a contract for the operation, maintenance or management of property serving the unit owners."

The Court then goes on to make factual determinations and fails to distinguish between "unit owners", "unit tenants", "visitors" and the ASSOCIATION.

Instead, the Third District Court of Appeals said:

"Since no valid explanation is offered by Wash-Bowl as to why the nature of laundry space lease makes it impracticable to conform to these requirements, Wash-Bowl's contention that it complied with the Statute to the extent it was feasible to do so fails".

This was a factual determination that failed to answer the fundamental question as to the distinction and applicability to "space leases", while acknowledging that a space lease is different than a "contract for the operation, maintenance or management of property serving the unit owners".

By their reasoning, the Coca Cola machine, the utilities, the restaurant lease, the pay telephone, newspaper delivery, taxi service, medical treatment, and any other vendor or provider coming to the premises or "serving" a unit owner off the premises would be covered by the Statute. Indeed, it would create a separate class of persons without a showing of why such group is singled out.

The holding of <u>Wash-Bowl</u> as to the applicability to laundry leases was promptly rejected by the legislature. The <u>Wash-Bowl</u> opinion was dated March 14, 1986 and Rehearing Denied April 16, 1986. On June 3, 1986 the house adopted the amendment to Florida Statute §718.3025(4) as part of CS for SB 192 which become law as C-86-175.

The Amendment provided:

"Notwithstanding the fact that certain vendors with associations to maintain equipment or property which is made available to serve unit owners, it is the intent of the Legislature that this section applies to contracts for maintenance or management services for which the association This section does not apply to compensation. <u>contracts</u> for services or property available for the convenience of unit owners by lessees or licensees of the association, such as coin operated laundry, food, soft drink, or telephone vendors; cable television operators; retail store operators; businesses; restaurants; or similar vendors." (emphasis added)

The Dade Circuit Court (the same Circuit from which the Wash Bowl case emanated) entered an Order Dismissing Cause with Prejudice in case of The Blue Grass Beach Club Motel Condominium, a Florida corporation, Not-for-profit, v. Cleanco Inc., a Florida corporation, Dade County Circuit Court, 11th Judicial Circuit, Case No. 86-41069 (27) dated December 23, 1986; and Seashore Club South Motel Condominium Association, Inc., not-for-profit, v. Wash-Bowl Vending, Inc., Dade County Circuit Court, 11th Judicial Circuit, Case No. 86-41068 (27), on December 24, 1986 based on the amendment.

Each order in effect held the Legislative Act to be remedial

and retroactive to negate the applicability of the <u>Wash-Bowl</u> decision to laundry lease cases decided after the amendment. Hillsborough County Circuit Court in <u>Harbor Light Condominium v.</u> Coin Operated Laundry, Inc., et. al. in Case 87-12114 similarly found the statute remedial by dismissing that case with prejudice on October 12, 1987. In that case an appeal was taken to the Second District Court of Appeal which appeal was subsequently dismissed rendering the Judgment Final.

The legislature thus by the amendment made clear their initial intent and rejected the convoluted and impracticable reasoning and construction of the statute given by the Third District Court.

While these Circuit Court decisions are not controlling precedent, they were nevertheless an indication that the issue was considered settled until the present action, and was relied on by all concerned entities.

The controlling law on the effect of the Amendment is <u>Lowry v</u>

<u>Parole and Probation Commission</u>, 473 So.2d 1248 (Fla. 1985). In
this case this Court stated:

"When, as occurred here, an amendment to a statute is enacted soon after controversies as to the interpretation of the original act arise, a court may consider that amendment as a legislative interpretation of the original law and not as a substantive change thereof. United States ex rel. Guest v. Perkins, 17 F.Supp. 177 (D.D.C.1936); Hambel v. Lowry, 264 Mo. 168, 174 S.W. 405 (1915). This Court has recognized the propriety of considering subsequent legislation in arriving at the proper interpretation of the prior statute. Gay v Canada Dry Bottling Co., 59 So.2d 788 (Fla. 1952).

In examining Chapter 947 in light of section 755.021(4), Florida Statutes (1983) and section 775.087(2), Florida Statutes (1983), it is unmistakable that the amendments contained in the pending bill are expressions of prior and continuing legislative intent. Thus we hold that while AGO 85-11 is a reasonable interpretation of the law, it does not represent legislative intent."

The Second District Court of Appeal, in <u>Englewood Water</u>

<u>District v J.D. Tate et al</u>, 334 So.2d 626 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976)

stated:

"...If the intent of the legislature is clear and unmistakable from the language used, it is the Court's duty to give effect to that intent." (See also S.R.G. Corp. v Department of Revenue, Fla. 365 So.2d 687 (Fla., 1978).

In Adams v Wright, Fla., 403 So.2d 391 (Fla. 1981); this Court in holding 768.043(3) Fla.Stat. "Remedial", [a statute which employed words similar to 718.3025 Fla.Stat. (1986) i.e.; the words] "It is the intent of this legislature..." and finding that since a "Remedial Statute is designed to correct an existing law,...", the act was to have retrospective application.

Other cases have construed statutes of a remedial nature to be retroactive. City of Orlando v. Desjardines, 493 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 1986); American Cast Iron Pipe Co. v. Foote Bros., 458 So.2d 409 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1984); Fogg III v. Southeast Bank N.A., 473 So.2d 1352 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1985); Kawaski of Tampa Inc. v. Calvin, 348 So.2d 897 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1977); General Cap. Corp. v. Tel Service Co., 212 So.2d 369, (Fla. 2d DCA, 1965) and Grammer v. Roman, 174 So.2d (Fla. 2d DCA, 1965).

In the case of General Cap Corp. v. Tel Service Co., supra,

the Second District Court of Appeal addressed the effect of an amendment in the Usury Statute. In that case applying the law in effect at the time of execution, the instrument was prima facie usurious. However, a subsequent amendment was held to be retrospective and to dissipate the usury asserted at time of trial.

Section 718.3025(4) Fla.Stat., should receive like treatment, since a holding of "unenforceability" of a freely entered into contract is a penalty of the highest magnitude.

Since the decision in the Trial Court turned on judicial interpretation of a statute this Court should adopt in this instance the rule that Legislative intent will overrule an inconsistent judicial interpretation of the same legislative intent. Where the legislature as in this case, clarifies its own statute such "remedial" action is retrospective to any subsequent action based on the statute. Lowry v. Parole and Probation Commission, supra.

The amendment was clearly not a change in the law, but was "...to clarify what was doubtful and to safeguard against misapprehension as to existing law." <u>U.S. Fire Ins., Co. v. Roberts</u>, 541 So.2d 1297 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1989).

In <u>Wash Bowl</u>, the Third District Court further rejected a waiver argument. This was an alternate reason for rejecting the interpretation, since as a matter of law waiver, or its "kissing cousin", estoppel were clearly present in this case.

In the <u>Wash Bowl</u> opinion, it states at p. 1310, "waiver is the intentional relinquishment of a known right...however, there can be

no waiver without knowledge, express or implied, of that which is being waived... (Emphasis added).

Means of knowledge, with duty of using them, are in equity equivalent to knowledge itself.

However, knowledge or notice may be actual, constructive, or implied. Applefield v. Commercial Standard Ins. Co., 176 So.2d 366 (Fla. 2d DCA, 1965). "... Every citizen is charged with knowledge of the domestic law of this jurisdiction". Akins v. Bethea, 33 So.2d 638 (Fla. 1945).

One can waive any contractual statutory or constitutional right. Doctrine of waiver can encompass not only intentional or voluntary relinquishment of known right, but also conduct that warrants inference of relinquishment of those rights. Miami Dolphins Ltd. v. Genden & Bach, P.A., 545 So.2d 294 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1989).

Public statutory law <u>must</u> be judicially noticed by the Courts. <u>Florida Statute 90.201(1)</u>. The law thus constitutes either constructive or implied actual knowledge. All entities are presumed to know the law and while existing law generally is part of a contract, the parties may waive the same in the absence of a special specific legislative public policy holding that prevents the waiver or agreement.

A distinction should be made between vested contractual agreements freely bargained for and contained in the agreement [as in <u>Fleeman v. Case</u>, 342 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976)] and those inferred as part of the contract, by statute. <u>General Cap Corp. v. Tel</u>

Service, Co., 212 So.2d 369 (Fla. 2d DCA, 1965); Xanadu of Cocoa Beach v. Lenz, 504 So.2d 518 (Fla. 5th DCA, 1987). As retroactive provision of a legislative act is not necessarily invalid. Village of El Portal v. City of Miami Shores, 362 So.2d 275 (Fla. 1978).

The acceptance of benefits such as rent clearly constitutes waiver or estoppel as a matter of law.

If not as a matter of law, then as a matter of material fact, precluding the Summary Judgment entered by Judge Cheatwood. See Tollius v. Dutch Inns of America Inc., 244 So.2d 467 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1970). See also Bodden v. Carbonell, 354 So.2d 927 (Fla. 2d DCA, 1978). (As to acceptance of rent on an apartment complex laundry lease). The estoppel follows familiar rules such as apparent authority of agent to bind the principal. Stiles v. Gordon Land Co., 44 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1950).

Even if the condominium act is a consumer act for the protection of an individual unit owner, the same policy does not apply to contracts freely entered into by a unit controlled association. Indeed, frequently the condominium association has greater economic bargaining power than the parties it deals with. The unit owner would not necessarily under the condominium act receive all the information pertaining to the complex, and may not even occupy the unit, but such information would be available to the association board (and their management company, where such is employed). This case does not deal with a "developer" lease and in fact was a third laundry lease by the association with the same tenant or its predecessor.

The legislature has frequently amended the act to direct provisions towards conduct of developers and management companies. However, any restraint in contract is both in derogation of common law and the constitutional prohibition against impairment of contract. Thus, strict construction is called for and the courts should leave it to the legislature for specific clear determination of what is covered. This does not diminish the judicial role of limitation when the legislature goes too far and impacts on constitutional restraints.

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